1987

# Mitchell D. Henderson v. For Shor Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The following are the issues Defendant/Appellant hereby presents to the court on appeal:

1. Right to repossess. Was the repossession of the forms by For-Shor lawful and did For-Shor have a right to repossess the forms pursuant to the title retention agreement as stated on the invoices signed by Henderson? Was the Promissory Note a valid note, and if so was it sufficient to constitute final payment in order to transfer title in the equipment to Henderson?

2. Sale of the forms to Ileen Buttars as a "bona fide purchaser". Was the sale of the equipment from Mitchell Henderson to his grandmother, Ileen Buttars, a valid sale? Is Ileen Buttars a bona fide purchaser for value, as against Defendants?

3. Damages awarded to Plaintiff Hale. Did the Trial Court err in awarding damages to David Hale when the damages were not plead in the Complaint nor proven at trial?

4. Damage for loss of rental. Did the Trial Court err in awarding damages to Ileen Buttars for loss of rentals for three years when no evidence was presented at trial to establish the rentals and, as future anticipated profits, the rentals were speculative?

5. Value of forms. Did the Trial Court err in awarding damages to Ileen Buttars for the value of the forms when no evidence of value was presented at trial?

6. Damage for trespass. Did the Trial Court err in awarding damages to Laurena Henderson for trespass when no damages were shown at trial?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

##### Nature of the Case

This action was originally brought by Plaintiffs in an attempt to recover for damages alleged to have been caused by Defendant/Appellant, For-Shor Company's alleged wrongful repossession of cement forms used to form foundations, retaining walls, etc. Defendant claims that the forms were properly repossessed under a title retention agreement which had been signed by Plaintiff Mitchell D. Henderson. Plaintiffs claim that title to the equipment passed to Mitchell Henderson upon his signing a promissory note or in the alternative when For-Shor Company obtained a default judgment against Henderson on its Complaint following Henderson's default in payments on the note. Defendant claims that the note was voidable and accepted only in reliance on misrepresentations by Mitchell Henderson that the



For-Shor forms had been stolen and that there was no available collateral. Plaintiffs further claim that Henderson sold the forms to his grandmother, Ileen Buttars, and that Mrs. Buttars was in the process of selling the forms to David Hale when the forms were repossessed by For-Shor Company.

#### Disposition in Lower Court

The Trial Court by Memorandum Decision (District Court Record pp. 381- 382) ruled that For-Shor Company had no right to reposses the forms holding that the forms had been purchased by Mr. Henderson, the last payment being in the form of the promissory note accepted by For-Shor Company and later reduced to judgment by For-Shor.

The Court ruled that the sale of the forms from Henderson to Buttars was a valid sale and that, therefore, Mrs. Buttars was damaged by the taking of the forms by For-Shor. The court granted judgment to Mrs. Buttars for the fair market value of the forms in the amount \$5,725.35 and for a rental value of the forms of \$2,500.00 per year for the three years from July 1981 to July 1984. The Court also entered judgment in favor of Plaintiff David Hale for an overcharge claimed by Hale from For-Shor for \$265.00 and judgment was granted to Plaintiff Laurena Henderson for trespass and damages in the amount of \$100.00.

The Court further ruled that Defendant did not interfere with the business relationships between David Hale and Mitchell Henderson or Ileen Buttars, that Defendant's repossession was not the cause of any mental or emotional distress claimed by Mitchell Henderson and ruled that the repossession of the forms by For-

Shor was not with willful or malicious intent, refusing to award punitive damages as requested by Plaintiffs.

### Statement of Facts

Mitchell Henderson testified that he was a licensed contractor and had obtained his license in 1976, (TVI p. 161, l. 21-25) and had no prior management experience. (TVI, p. 59, l. 8-13) In September of 1976, Plaintiff, Mitchell Henderson started his own cement forming business and in furtherance thereof purchased two different brands of forms from a company known as Interstate Industries. One set of forms being the Wallmaster brand and the other set being the Mod-u-form brand. Coincidentally, the Mod-u-form forms had been acquired by Interstate Industries from Defendant in order to fill Plaintiff Henderson's order. (TVI p. 17, l. 3-4; TVI, p. 63, l. 20 -- p. 64, l. 10; Ex. 18) The trial evidence clearly showed that Plaintiff Henderson borrowed approximately \$30,000.00 in the fall of 1976 from First Security Bank of Smithfield to purchase both the Wallmaster and For-Shor forms from Interstate Industries, and that First Security Bank took a security interest in all those forms. (TVI p. 17, l. 3-5; Ex. 1.)

During 1976 to 1978 Mitchell Henderson made purchases of certain supplies and rented additional and separate Mod-u-form concrete forming equipment directly from Defendant, For-Shor Company. As acknowledged in Plaintiff's Trial Brief, the Mod-u-form forms rented by Plaintiff Henderson were in essence identical in type and general appearance to the Mod-u-form forms he had previously purchased from Interstate Industries and

pledged as security to First Security Bank of Smithfield. (DCR p. 315)

In October of 1976, Plaintiff Mitchell Henderson opened an account for rental and purchase of goods and materials from Defendant For-Shor company and entered into an account agreement outlining the terms and provisions for such relationship. (Ex. 17) Of particular importance are paragraphs 1 and 2. Paragraph 1 provides in part that:

"all rentals or purchases of goods or materials by buyer from seller are made subject to this account agreement on such terms and conditions as may be stated on invoices and other documents prepared and submitted by seller to buyer in conjunction with the sale or lease of goods to buyer"

Paragraph 2(b) provides that:

"all payments received by sellers shall be applied first to interest, then to past due accounts, then to current purchases and rent."

The agreement was signed by Mitchell D. Henderson and also by James Snarr on behalf of the For-Shor Company. Mr. Henderson's business dealings from 1976 through 1978 were then documented both by invoices and ledger statements, most of which were also executed by Mr. Henderson and which he acknowledged in the course of the trial. (TVI p. 18., l. 22 -- p. 19, l. 2; Exs. 3, 4, 5) All of the documents used in the business relationship between Henderson and For-Shor included clear and explicit language to the effect that For-Shor Company would retain title in all merchandise either rented or sold until fully paid. The Court will note the language at the bottom of the invoices identified as Trial Exhibits 4 and 5, which reads as follows: "It is understood that title to all merchandise listed on this

invoice remains with For-Shor Company until fully paid for by purchaser."

In bold print at the bottom of each invoice was the notice that "SALES SUBJECT TO TERMS AND CONDITIONS APPEARING ON FACE AND REVERSE SIDE". The reverse side of each invoice indicated firstly by title in bold print that the document contained a Conditional Sales Contract, and further indicated in part

"the title to said property shall remain in vendor until the full purchase price is paid ... and if default be made by the vendee in any payment or in any of the terms of the sale, the vendor shall have the right, at its election, to declare a forfeiture hereunder and may take possession of said property, with the right of entry upon any premises where said property may be and remove therefrom without legal process, and thereupon all of the vendee's rights in or to said property shall cease and all payments theretofor made by the vendee shall be retained by the vendor as rental for the use of said property."

Furthermore, in bold print it provided:

"THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE INTERPRETED AND GOVERNED BY THE UTAH UNIFORM COMMERCIAL CODE, 70A-1-101 et seq."

These contractual provisions and notices appeared on all of the invoices utilized by the parties to evidence their numerous transactions during the three year period of their business relationship.

By June of 1978, Mr. Henderson had become seriously delinquent in his rental obligation to Defendant and had failed to return numerous items. On June 30, 1978 and pursuant to contract and agreement, For-Shor Company elected to convert the rentals to a purchase arrangement. (TVI p. 19, l. 20 - p. 20, l. 13; Ex. 4) The invoice itemized the property being converted which included 55, two by eight panels; 22 six inch inside by eight feet corner panels; 50, two by four panels; 4, six inch

inside corner by four feet panels; 50, wedge bolts; 50, two by four walers', and 50 Z walers. Also a credit of three months rent was given, leaving, after tax, a total purchase price of \$5,119.21. Shortly thereafter Plaintiff Henderson entered into negotiations with the Defendant to adjust the purchase price and the parties subsequently agreed to an additional credit of \$2,180.83 (TVI p. 44, ¶ 6-13; Ex. 5) thus reducing the total purchase price for that property from \$5,119.21 to \$2,938.38. Additionally, Mr. Henderson had accumulated before the June, 1978 purchase a separate outstanding account balance of \$5,371.64, which was for merchandise and rentals other than those itemized on Exhibit 4. (Exhibit 3) After the account adjustments of Exhibit 5 and application of accrued interest, the new statement balance as of July 31, 1978, as shown on Trial Exhibit No. 3, was \$8,329.12.

Two days later, on August 2, 1978, Plaintiff Henderson made a cash payment on the account of \$6,400.00 and incurred an addition charge as per invoice number 12514 of \$456.33. Trial Exhibit No. 3 evidences that as of August 2, 1978 the account balance owing was \$2,385.45. In accordance with the account agreement (Exhibit 17), Plaintiff's cash payment was credited against the old account balance of \$5,371.64 first, then to the new purchases on Exhibit 4; the result of which was that the items purchsed in June 1978 (Exhibit No. 4) were not fully paid for. Trial Exhibit No. 3 further reflects that Plaintiff Henderson on August 16, 1978 made a payment on the account in the

amount of \$311.03 and incurred an additional charge per invoice 12817 of \$406.21.

Evidently, Plaintiff Henderson's loan at First Security Bank of Smithfield for the purchase of the Interstate forms became delinquent sometime in the summer of 1978. Plaintiff's Grandmother, Ileen Buttars, raised the money to pay off the obligation to First Security Bank. (TVI pp. 82-85) Mrs. Buttars testified at trial that she knew very little about Mitchell Henderson's business except that he was in serious financial difficulty at the time she paid First Security Bank. (TVI p. 82, l. 7-10; p. 84, l. 18-20) She had not, nor had Mitchell notified For-Shor of the pay off to First Security Bank. She never had occasion to inspect, count, or identify the forms which First Security Bank had claimed as security and which she had redeemed. She understood, however, that she was acquiring an interest, if any, was only in the forms which First Security Bank had claimed as collateral by virtue of her repayment of that loan. She never personally used, nor managed the use of the forms after repayment of the First Security loan and never received the same into her possession. The forms remained for all times in the possession and control of her Grandson Mitchell Henderson, who had full and unrestricted use of the same. The forms were kept at his mother's residence and he on occasion rented them out. Plaintiff Mitchell Henderson retained all of the incomes that were generated on the forms. (TVI, p. 71, l. 19) Mrs. Buttars never received any accounting for their use or rental and never requested an accounting. She never reported any income from the forms or claimed revenue from them on her personal income tax

returns. Her Grandson, on the other hand, utilized the forms in his business and claimed the income as his own. At trial, Mrs. Buttars testified that she was uncertain whether the money she provided to pay off First Security Bank was a loan to her Grandson or a purchase of the collateral held by First Security Bank. (TVI pp. 86-87) Significantly, both she and her Grandson however had a full expectation and intention that Mitchell would eventually repay her that sum.

Defendant For-Shor Company did little further business with Plaintiff Mitchell Henderson during 1978, and was thereafter unable to locate him again until the fall of 1979. During that period of time no payments had been made on the account and For-Shor Company had referred the account to its attorneys for collection. In July of 1979 suit was filed against Henderson. He was served with a copy of the Summons and Complaint on August 26, 1979 in Cache County, Utah. (Exhibit 24) A few days later Plaintiff Henderson contacted Mr. Duane Burnett, then counsel for Defendant, regarding the lawsuit. (TVIII, p. 500, l. 11 -- p. 502, l. 7) Mr. Burnett testified at trial that in the course of the conversation Mr. Henderson represented that he wished to resolve the outstanding obligation but that he was unable to pay the entire amount off in one lump sum. He further represented that the specific forms and merchandise which had been purchased from the For-Shor Company had been stolen in of July of 1979, and that there was no collateral available to satisfy the outstanding obligation. Mr. Burnett advised Mr. Henderson that he should contact Mr. James Snarr of the For-Shor Company directly.

On September 6, 1979, Plaintiff Mitchell Henderson visited Mr. Snarr at the For-Shor offices in Salt Lake City and negotiated with the For-Shor Company an arrangement to repay the then outstanding account balance of \$3,748.43 by making monthly installments of approximately \$340.00. (Exhibit 37) At the request of Mr. Snarr, Mr. Henderson executed a written Installment Promissory Note evidencing his agreement to repay that balance over time. For-Shor Company had agreed to allow Mr. Henderson to repay the obligation in accordance with the Promissory Note rather than electing to proceed with the lawsuit, based upon Henderson's representation that the forms had been stolen and were no longer available as collateral, and upon Mr. Henderson's promise to pay as set forth in the note, and also based upon the fact that it had been very difficult to locate Mr. Henderson over the past year and the prospect of receiving payment by any other device did not appear to be good. (TVII p. 501, l. 15 -- p. 502, l. 24) The Promissory Note was received as evidence at trial as Exhibit No. 37.

After making one or two payments on the Note, Plaintiff Henderson defaulted and For-Shor Company obtained a Default Judgment on February 13, 1980, in the sum \$3,831.78. By that time For-Shor had again lost track of Mr. Henderson and had no further knowledge of his whereabouts or dealings until July of 1981 when Defendant repossessed most of the forms it had originally sold to Mr. Henderson per Trial Exhibit No. 4.

Evidently, Mitchell Henderson filed Bankruptcy on or about July 16, 1980. Although For-Shor Company was named on the creditor matrix, it never received notice of the Bankruptcy, and



never filed a claim in those proceedings. (TVII p. 238, l. 8-15) One reason that Defendant did not receive notice of the Bankruptcy proceedings may have been an improper address assigned to the Defendant on the mailing matrix. (TVII p. 209, l. 1 - p. 210, l. 17) The address given was another cement forming company which did business adjacent to the offices of the For-Shor Company. Additionally the name of the Defendant was misspelled. Regardless of the reason, Defendant did not have actual knowledge of the Bankruptcy and undertook no action as a result of the same.

One year later, in July of 1981, it came to the Defendant's attention, quite by chance, that Mitchell Henderson had in his possession and was storing certain cement forms. Defendant, through its agents, went to Clarkston, Utah and determined that both Wallmaster and Mod-u-form forms were stored at what they later learned to be the residence of Mr. Henderson's mother. (TVII p. 293, l. 20 - p. 294, l. 4) Mr. Dan Sharp testified that he was able to determine that there was approximately one or more sets of Wallmaster forms and more than one set of Mod-u-form forms stored at the Henderson residence. Using invoice number 11754 (Trial Exhibit No. 4), which was the original purchase invoice, Mr. Sharp repossessed what he on behalf of For-Shor believed to be the merchandise which had been sold to Plaintiff Mitchell Henderson under the title retention agreement of June 1978. A comparison of the inventory of those forms repossessed (see Trial Exhibits 27 and 28), reveals that just less than all of the items sold to Mr. Henderson in 1978 were repossessed by the For-Shor

Company in July 1981.

Mr. Sharp testified that, using a rental truck, he and another employee entered the Henderson premises along a gravel driveway, leaving the truck on the driveway, and loaded the forms onto the truck. It took approximately forty five minutes to load the truck, whereupon they left the premises in the same manner as they had arrived. Mr. Sharp testified that he did not see any signs prohibiting entry along the driveway nor was he contacted or confronted by anyone during the course of the repossession, and that he caused no damage to any property in the course of that activity. (TVII p. 298, l. 9-8) Plaintiff Laurena B.

Henderson testified that she observed the same truck enter the premises and watched the activities of two men as they loaded the truck for a period of approximately three to five minutes and then left. (TVI p. 96, l. 6 -- p. 97, l. 6) Mrs. Henderson testified that there were several No Trespassing signs and Do Not Enter signs posted on buildings about the premises but that the men who took the forms did not enter any buildings. She further testified that the truck upon leaving drove over a portion of her yard, but that there was no resulting damage. (TVI p. 97, l. 6-11; TVI p. 106, l. 15-24) At page 8, lines 20 and 21 of her deposition taken July 20, 1984, Mrs. Henderson, in response to the question "And was there any damage caused as a result of that?", answered "Oh, not enough to worry about." At page 10, lines 10 through 16 of the same deposition transcript, Mrs. Henderson further testified that she was accustomed to contractors or laborers or other people coming in and out of her premises to get forms.

At trial, Plaintiffs offered no testimony as to the value of the forms taken. Mr. Snarr further testified that the cost to recondition a form including plywood, labor and materials but excluding sandblasting and painting, would be approximately 24% of the current list price, (TVIII p. 441. l. 15-25) and that the For-Shor Company typically purchases used or reconditioned forms for between 40% to 50% off the list price.

Apparently during the period from July 1978 until July 1981 little use was made of the forms by Mr. Henderson. During that three year period less than \$2,500.00 in gross rents was generated from Mr. Henderson's use of all the forms he had in his possession, which included both full sets acquired from Interstate Industries and pledged as collateral to First Security, as well as the approximate half set acquired from the For-Shor Company. (TVI p. 34, l. 12-19) Plaintiff Mitchell Henderson testified, however, that he had been attempting during that period of time to sell all of the forms which he had in his possession but without any success. (TVI p. 31 - p. 32)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The following is a summary of arguments Defendant/Appellant hereby presents to the court on appeal:

1. Right to repossess. Defendant claims that the repossession of the forms was lawful and that it had a right to repossess the forms pursuant to the title retention agreement as stated on the invoices signed by Henderson. Defendant maintains that the trial court erred in concluding that the repossession was not legal holding that the forms had been purchased by

Henderson, the last payment being in the form of a promissory note accepted by Defendant. Defendant claims that the promissory note was fraudulently issued in that Henderson stated that the forms had been stolen when in fact they had not been stolen. Because of Henderson's misrepresentations, the promissory note is void and of no effect. Therefore, the forms had never been paid for and title has never been transferred from For-Shor to Henderson.

2. Sale of the forms to Ilene Buttars as "bona fide purchaser". Defendant claims that Henderson had no title to the For-Shor forms and could not transfer title to his grandmother, Mrs. Buttars. Furthermore, the forms purportedly sold to Buttars were forms secured to First Security Bank, not Forshor forms and the transfer of the forms to Mrs. Buttars was in the form of a loan and not a sale. There was never a sale of the Defendant's forms to Mrs. Buttars.

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