1987

# Mitchell D. Henderson v. For-Shor Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

##### A. Response to Appellant's summaries

1. Right To Repossess. Defendant can have no right to repossess because Mitchell's response to Defendant's demands for payment for the forms in 1978 was to pay off the forms (\$5,119.21) with a \$6,400.00 check with the balance being applied to his account. This together with his grandmother's payment of approximately \$26,000.00 to his lender gave him unquestionable freedom to transfer title to his grandmother, which he did three years before the claimed repossession. Also, Defendant's taking a promissory note from Plaintiff and the subsequent reduction of that note to a judgment leaves Defendant with no other remedies or claims against the property. The theory of fraud allegedly committed by Mitchell which allegedly motivated Defendant to take the promissory note is in conflict with testimony and other evidence introduced at trial and upon which the trial court based its decision and has insufficient basis for reversing the trial court's decision.

2. Sale of the Forms to Ileen Buttars as "Bona fide Purchaser". Mrs. Buttars knew that Mitchell had some Mod-u-forms and that he was willing to sell them all to her for \$26,000.00 if she would pay off his lender, First Security Bank, which she did. She knew nothing of any For-Shor claim to the forms and Defendant did nothing by way of public

filings or otherwise to place her on notice. The court, in light of Plaintiff Henderson's and Buttar's testimony and the written bill of sale, (Exhibit #2) found specifically against Defendant's claims that there was no sale.

3. Damages Awarded to Plaintiff Hale. During the course of the trial it was discovered and clearly established that in its business dealings with Plaintiff-Hale when he went to Defendant to rent forms to replace the ones stolen, that Defendant had overcharged him. This was freely admitted by Defendant and so Hale was awarded judgment of \$265.00 to correct the overcharge as viewed by the court. Rule 54(c)(1) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure allows a judge to grant the relief dictated by the evidence even though not pleaded.

4. Damages for Loss of Rental. Plaintiffs did offer evidence to establish loss of rentals. The evidence came both from Plaintiffs and from Defendant's manager who admitted that the forms taken went into its rental pool from which Defendant rents the forms at 8 percent of their new value per month or 96 percent per annum! Judgment for Plaintiff was for \$2,500.00 per year for three years.

5. Value of Forms. Plaintiff's offered evidence of value of the forms taken in several ways: What a prospective purchaser was willing to pay, what had been paid for the forms originally, current new prices, cost to restore the forms to new condition, and the value of used forms generally. Much of the testimony came from Defendant's employees.

6. Damages for Trespass. Plaintiff, Laurena Henderson, discribed the damage of truck tire ruts through a new part of her back lawn and the court awarded \$100.00. Defendant's objection to that award is without merit.

## ARGUMENTS

### I

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE COURT'S DECISION  
THAT MITCHELL HENDERSON PAID FOR THE FORMS  
IN FULL WITH CASH AND A PROMISSORY NOTE,  
AND THAT HE MADE NO MISREPRESENTATIONS  
WHICH WOULD VOID THE PROMISSORY NOTE.

1. In arguing that Mitchell induced For-Shor to take a promissory note, Defendant now attempts to hang its entire case on the testimony of its own attorney who was going to conduct the trial and not even testify! R.pp. 191-192. Counsel disqualified himself only at the request of Plaintiffs because Plaintiffs intended to call him, not because Defendant saw that Attorney Burnett's testimony would be the backbone of their defense. During discovery when Plaintiffs tried to get Defendant to divulge information regarding sales and rental prices for the equipment in question, Attorney Duane Burnett himself responded in writing stating that such facts were irrelevant because all charges for such things by Defendant against Plaintiff "...were reduced to a note and agreement, thereby rendering the same moot." R.p. 78. Clearly in September, 1982, and not long before the

scheduled trial date, Attorney Burnett was claiming the note was good and valid. Later, the defense realized that any claims it wanted to make on repossessing the equipment should have been made before its claims were merged into a promissory note and a judgment. It could not split its cause of action. Raymer vs. Hi-Line Transport, Inc. 15 Ut. 2d 427 (1964), Caste v. Arkansas Louisiana Gas Co. 597 F2d 1323 (Okla. 1979). Having realized that, Defendant then sought and found an excuse for doing so: According to Attorney Burnett, Mitchell told him that the forms were stolen, so Defendant had to settle for a promissory note. Mitchell emphatically denied this. (Tpp 523-524 line 14, p.526 line 16.) Furthermore, immediately after signing the note, he requested and got permission to return some of the forms Defendant claims were stolen! (T.p. 371.) Why would a person lie and say the forms were stolen and sign a promissory note for the balance owing on the goods and then a couple days later return some of those reportedly "stolen" forms to the same creditor for credit?! The answer is that Mitchell Henderson never told Attorney Burnett that the forms had been stolen. (T.p. 371 line 4--p.472 line 3; Exhibit #37 3rd page.)

Defendant tried to add credibility to Attorney Burnett's claims that Mitchell had represented that the forms were stolen based on a representation made in his bankruptcy statement of Affairs. It refers to Question 14 of Exhibit #29, but is probably referring to the answer to Question 18

of Exhibit #29 wherein Mitchell disclosed that some "equipment" had been stolen in July, 1979. Mitchell reported that there was vandalism or theft of a variety of equipment on three occasions (T.p.523 line 22) including outside and inside corners, but that none of the forms purchased from Defendant in 1978 were affected. (T.p.524 line 19, p.526)

It should be clear based on the above referenced exhibits and testimony that Defendant has no basis for asking this Court to reverse the trial Court's decision regarding Defendant's belated claim or defense of fraud or intentional misrepresentation.

## II

THERE WAS A BONA FIDE SALE OF THE FORMS  
FROM HENDERSON TO BUTTARS. DEFENDANT  
CAN CLAIM NO SECURITY INTEREST BECAUSE  
IT PRODUCED NO SIGNED WRITTEN AGREEMENT  
NOR CAN IT IDENTIFY THE SECURITY.

Defendant claims there is a distinction between the For-Shor forms purchased through Interstate Industries in 1976 and the forms converted from lease to purchase in July and August, 1978. It is true there were two purchases of similar forms at two different times and Defendant has not ever attempted to show the trial court or this court that it could distinguish between the forms purchased on the two different dates. Of course, depending on use and abuse of each individual form, their condition may vary greatly



and they are not fungible goods as claimed by Defendant. Because Defendant has never provided as means of proving which forms are which, it cannot prevail on its attempted re-possession.

It is true that Mrs. Buttars thought all the For-Shor forms were secured at First Security when she paid off Mitchell's loans there, but she also knew that her agreement with Mitchell was to buy his Mod-u-forms (For-Shor type). They were listed on the Bill of Sale. Exhibit #2; T.p. 65-66. T.pp. 81-90. Her payment of approximately 30,000 on Mitchell's loans (Exhibit #1, #7, and #8) certainly is evidence of giving value. Mrs. Buttars certainly had no actual (T.p.85) or constructive notice of any claim of ownership of the forms being made by Defendant (T.pp.220-221). Mr. Henderson paid \$6,400.00 for the forms and on his account as insisted by Defendant before he could obtain any more credit from the Defendant. (T.pp.19-25; T.p. 363 line 20-p.264 line 25.)

The list of facts recited by Defendant on page 24 of its brief are mostly either disputed or completely untrue. For example, Defendant's "fact" #7 states Mrs. Buttars "...did not ever manage the use of the forms." Mrs. Buttars gave Mitchell instructions to either rent or sell the forms and to keep the rental money to help him get on his feet (T.p.84 line 15-25). It seems as if Mrs. Buttars was completely in charge of the forms but was intent on helping her grandson with his difficulties. Just because she was

generous to her grandson does not mean she claimed no right or control over the property. Compare T.p.84 line 23-25 again with fact #9 as claimed by Defendant on p.24 of its Brief.

Mitchell Henderson and Defendant settled up on the purchase of the forms when he paid the \$6,400. The testimony and evidence supports that conclusion. Merely because the agreement was made orally between him and Mr. Snarr does not mean it should be ignored because two years earlier Snarr had Mitchell sign an account agreement. Defendant continues to ignore the testimony which indicates that the parties agreed to apply the \$6,400.00 to the purchase of the forms. The account agreement was not given to Mitchell and was only in Defendant's possession. (T.p.368 line 7-19.)

Defendant attempts to prove with exhibits and the testimony of his own witnesses that his position is the correct one, and at the same time ignores the testimony and exhibits of Plaintiffs' which call for a different conclusion. The trial court heard and received the evidence and arguments regarding these conflicts and found in favor of the Plaintiffs, Mrs. Buttars, etc. It is of no assistance to this Court for the Defendant to ignore Plaintiffs' evidence in arguing its points on appeal when in fact the trial court has found against it. Its only purpose seems to be to further delay payment of the judgment which delays prevent Mrs. Buttars from paying off at least part of the loan on her farm.

Defendant attempts to excuse its inability to distinguish the forms sold in 1976 from the forms sold in 1978 saying they were identical so it made no difference. In other words they were fungible goods. The trouble with that argument is that they were only fungible so long as both groups of forms were new. Anyone knows that once one begins using equipment, it receives varying amounts of use, abuse and maintenance. Therefore it became critical for the creditor and debtor to distinguish which forms were which. Defendant made no provision for doing so.

### III

THE COURT CAN AWARD DAMAGES TO A PARTY FOR  
ITEMS WHICH WERE NOT PLED BY THAT PARTY  
OR RAISED BY THAT PARTY PRIOR TO TRIAL.  
OTHERWISE RULE 54 (c)(1) OF THE UTAH RULES  
OF CIVIL PROCEEDURE HAS NO MEANING.

It became very clear to the court from the Exhibits presented (Exhibit #39) and from Defendant's testimony that Plaintiff Hale had been overcharged. This was established during the course of trial. (T.pp.433-436.) After this fact came to light, Defendant testified that Hale owed a balance of about \$237.00 (T.p.444 line 5) but that it had been written off as a bad debt (T.p.444 line 24-25). An attempt to prove the claim with documentary evidence from David Hale's business transactions, billings, and the

Plaintiff's aging reports failed to verify the claim. (T.pp.444-448.) Considering the fact that the court heard and received all the evidence related to the matter and found that David Hale was overcharged \$265.00 (Record p.382), one must assume that the court did not give much weight or credit to Defendant's belated claim that Plaintiff Hale still owed Defendant some money on an old bad debt. The trial judge's assessment of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses should not be overturned.

#### IV

THE COURT'S DECISION REGARDING LOSS OF PROFITS AND RENTALS IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

Mrs. Buttars' claim for damages in her complaint was that Defendant's wrongful taking of approximately a half set of forms rendered the other half useless. (Record p.5 para#3). The evidence supports such a claim. Robert Mortensen, a respected building contractor familiar with and active in the cement forming business testified that to lose approximately a half set of forms would stop a cement former's business in its tracks (T.p.379 line 13). See also T.pp.42 line 12-p.44 line 5, and T.p.26 line 14 where Defendant admitted that a cement former could not operate with just a half set. Both Mitchell and his mother, Laurena, testified that they received no rental income after the forms were taken except from David Hale who had tried to lease the

full set for a couple of jobs before half of them were taken. (T.pp.37-40, p.80). Also T.pp.103 line 19-p.104 line 21.

Defendant claims that the testimony was insufficient to justify the court's award of damages and argued in its Brief that a short three months' period was insufficient to establish rental potential. However, Defendant is reluctant to say that no attempt was made to rent the forms prior to the spring of 1981, which was the year they were taken. T.pp.31 line 16-p.34. When the forms were offered for rent there were plenty of takers as long as a full set was available. Additional proof that the forms were in demand was that all forms in Cache Valley were being used during that summer and that is why David Hale had to rent forms from Defendant in Salt Lake City.

Defendant argues that Plaintiff could have combined the ½ set of Mod-u-forms with his wallmaster forms and continued some sort of rental business (Defendant's Brief p.32) but it fails to point out that the Wallmasters were a new design idea that did not work and that they turned out to be junk. (T.p.69 line 8-23; T.pp.78-79.)

Defendant has referred to some of the exhibits on damages which support the court decision. In addition the trial judge used the shortest season possible when calculating the losses sustained by Mrs. Buttars by not having a full set to rent. The trial court used a six month period when the average season is more like eight to ten months.

(T.pp.39-40; T.p.381 line 10-12.)

In connection with Defendant's claim that damages for loss of rental was too speculative, the court should remember that Defendant testified that as soon as it had gained possession of the half set, they were put on its rental pool and leased out along with other forms at the rate of 8% of new value per month or 96% of new value per year! T.pp.230-231; T.p.436 line 24-p.437 line 3. Mr. Mortensen testified that he rented his forms at \$1.00 per form per job. T.p.381. He'd therefore rent a full set of 180 forms for \$180.00 to pour the foundation on an average house (T.p.382). If we merely accept Defendant's claim as to how many forms were taken, one would count 83 forms (Exhibit #27). That excludes the other equipment it took which were wedge bolts.

In summary, there were several witnesses who testified regarding the rental value and demand for the forms in 1981. It appears that the trial judge in light of all the evidence took a conservative approach (six month period) and awarded a mere \$2,500.00 per year, which is certainly supported by evidence given from a variety of witnesses including the Defendant. He could have awarded much more.

#### V

#### THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING ON VALUE OF THE FORMS TAKEN.

In Defendant's Brief P.37, Defendant makes a bold statement:

The transcript of the trial is entirely void of evidence or testimony to establish the value of the forms...

If the above statement were true the trial court judge would not be a judge. Following are some of the references to value which the trial court could have considered:

1. The purchase price of the forms in August, 1978. Exhibit #4 gives the individual price for each form as well as the total purchase price of \$5,119.21. The forms were purchased and then three years later in July, 1981, they were taken. This was after prices on identical forms had risen substantially. (T.p.234 line 8-p.235 line 3) For example, new 2'x8' panels cost \$72.00 each in May, 1978 (Exhibit #4). In 1982, their cost had risen to \$88.32 (Exhibit #26 & #27 first line). In 1983 their price had risen to \$96.00 per panel and in early 1984 prices rose again to \$106.00 per panel. (T.pp.437-439 line 17)

The court can observe from reviewing the charges against Mitchell's account (Exhibit #3) and the charges on Exhibit #4 that even though Mitchell had incurred rent on forms for nine months since they were first rented in September, 1977, and even though they were probably used when he first began renting (T.p.230), he was charged full new price when Defendant unilaterally charged his account with their purchase. Certainly the account agreement gives Defendant no authority to do that. Exhibit #17. This, nevertheless gave the court some idea of their value as of that date and that was in a used condition. Admittedly Defendant gave Mitchell some

credit on the purchase price for the rent paid or charged to his account.

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